2006

Wintergreen Group v. Utah DOT : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE SUPREME COURT

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code §78-2-2(3)(j)(2002)(appeal from final judgment).

ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

ISSUE I:

Did the trial court err by dismissing Wintergreen's complaint, since Wintergreen properly alleged all the elements of inverse condemnation claims under the state and federal constitutions? (Issue Preserved: R. 92-93, 88)

Standard of Appellate Review: "When reviewing a dismissal based on rule 12[(b)(6)], an appellate court must accept the material allegations of the complaint as true ... and the trial court's ruling should be affirmed only if it clearly appears that [Plaintiff] can prove no set of facts in support of his claim." Colman v. Utah State Land Bd., 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990).

ISSUE II:

Did the trial court err by dismissing Wintergreen's Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Claims for Relief for inverse condemnation under Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution on the ground that UDOT's initiation of direct condemnation proceedings under state statute against *parts* of Wintergreen's land precluded Wintergreen's state constitutional inverse condemnation claims with respect to *all* of Wintergreen's land detrimentally affected by UDOT's conduct? (Issue Preserved: R. 88-92)

Standard of Appellate Review: In reviewing a trial court's grant of a defendant's

12(b)(6) motion to dismiss a complaint for failure to state a claim, an appellate court accepts the factual allegations in the complaint as true and interprets those facts and all inferences drawn from them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Such dismissal is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's ruling. Oakwood Village LLC v. Albertsons, Inc., 2004 UT 101, ¶9, 104 P.3d 1226.

ISSUE III:

Did the trial court err by dismissing Wintergreen's First, Second and Third Claims for Relief for inverse condemnation under the Just Compensation Clause of the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution on the ground that UDOT's initiation of direct condemnation proceedings under state statute against *parts* of Wintergreen's land precluded Wintergreen's federal constitutional inverse condemnation claims with respect to *all* of Wintergreen's land detrimentally affected by UDOT's conduct? (Issue Preserved: R. 88-92)

Standard of Appellate Review: In reviewing a trial court's grant of a defendant's 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss a complaint for failure to state a claim, an appellate court accepts the factual allegations in the complaint as true and interprets those facts and all inferences drawn from them in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Such dismissal is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's ruling. Oakwood Village LLC v. Albertsons, Inc., 2004 UT 101, ¶9, 104 P.3d 1226.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THIS APPEAL

UNITED STATES CONST. amend. V.

[N]or shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.

UTAH CONST. art. I, §22.

Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation.

UTAH CODE § 78-34-10. Compensation and damages -- How assessed.

The court, jury or referee must hear such legal evidence as may be offered by any of the parties to the proceedings, and thereupon must ascertain and assess:

- (1) the value of the property sought to be condemned and all improvements thereon appertaining to the realty, and of each and every separate estate or interest therein; and if it consists of different parcels, the value of each parcel and of each estate or interest therein shall be separately assessed;
- (2) if the property sought to be condemned constitutes only a part of a larger parcel, the damages which will accrue to the portion not sought to be condemned by reason of its severance from the portion sought to be condemned and the construction of the improvement in the manner proposed by the plaintiff;
- (3) if the property, though no part thereof is taken, will be damaged by the construction of the proposed improvement, the amount of such damages;
- (4) separately, how much the portion not sought to be condemned, and each estate or interest therein, will be benefited, if at all, by the construction of the improvement proposed by the plaintiff. If the benefit shall be equal to the damages assessed under Subdivision (2) of this section, the owner of the parcel shall be allowed no compensation except the value of the portion taken; but if the benefit shall be less than the damages so assessed, the former shall be deducted from the latter, and the remainder shall be the only damages allowed in addition to the value of the portion taken;
- (5) if the property sought to be condemned consists of water rights or part of a water delivery system or both, and the taking will cause present or future damage to or impairment of the water delivery system not being taken, including impairment of the systems's carrying capacity, an amount to compensate for the damage or impairment;
- (6) if land on which crops are growing at the time of service of summons is sought to be condemned, the value that those crops would have had after being harvested, taking into account the expenses that would have been incurred cultivating and harvesting the crops; and
- (7) As far as practicable compensation must be assessed for each source of damages separately.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case, course of proceedings, disposition in the court below

This case presents the question whether the Utah legislature, by enacting a statute, may prohibit a property owner from enforcing individual state and federal constitutional rights in a Utah state court. It is elementary that statutes cannot trump constitutional rights, and yet the trial court below erroneously so held.

Wintergreen owned approximately 121 acres of land in Tooele consisting of several parcels of land on both sides of State Road 36. Wintergreen had assembled the land in order to build the North Town Shopping Center. UDOT embarked on a project to widen SR-36 and brought three separate direct condemnation lawsuits to acquire parts of Wintergreen's land on each side of SR-36. UDOT obtained orders of immediate occupancy in each of the three direct condemnation lawsuits and the reconstruction of SR-36 has proceeded.

As part of the reconstruction project, and in addition to filing the three direct condemnation lawsuits, UDOT also permanently blocked off a street serving Wintergreen's land; transformed another street into a right-in, right-out-only turnoff; and erected barriers to prevent traffic from crossing from Wintergreen's land on one side of SR-36 to Wintergreen's land on the other side of SR-36.

Each of the three direct condemnation lawsuits brought by UDOT treated different individual segments of Wintergreen's total landholding as the relevant "larger parcel." Even as so limited, UDOT refused to provide Wintergreen statutory severance damages in the three direct condemnation lawsuits. Moreover, UDOT also refused to compensate Wintergreen for

harm to Wintergreen's total 121-acre landholding resulting from the fragmentation of that land caused by the direct condemnations. UDOT also refused to compensate Wintergreen for the harm to Wintergreen's assembled land resulting from UDOT's physical actions blocking off and obstructing streets to Wintergreen's land.

Wintergreen therefore filed a fourth, inverse condemnation, lawsuit in order (1) to expand the inquiry to properly focus on the harm resulting from UDOT's direct condemnation and physical conduct to Wintergreen's land as an integrated economic unit; and (2) to assert state and federal constitutional claims in light of that broader focus.

The trial court below granted UDOT's motion to dismiss Wintergreen's inverse condemnation lawsuit in its entirety on the ground that the statutory direct condemnation proceedings brought by UDOT prohibited Wintergreen from asserting state and federal constitutional claims, either in a separate lawsuit or as counterclaims in a consolidated action.

Statement of Facts

1. Plaintiff-Appellant Wintergreen Group, LC is a Utah limited liability company doing business in Salt Lake County, State of Utah. ("Wintergreen"). (R. 23 ¶3)

2. Defendant State of Utah Department of Transportation ("UDOT") is the Utah state entity with general responsibility for the state's highway system. (R. 23 ¶4)

3. Sometime before 2004, UDOT embarked on a project to widen State Road SR-36 in the City of Tooele and to conduct ancillary construction and improvements ("UDOT SR-36 Project"). (R. 23 ¶6)

4. Wintergreen owned several parcels of land in the City of Tooele, located on the

east and west sides of State Road 36 (SR-36), between 2000 North and 2400 North Streets ("Wintergreen's land"). (R. 23 ¶5)

5. Wintergreen's land is depicted on a portion of the Tooele Master Transportation Plan Map attached hereto as Addendum Exhibit 1. (R. 81)

6. Wintergreen's land consisted of a total of about 121.116 acres. (R. 23 ¶5)

7. Prior to the UDOT SR-36 Project, Wintergreen intended to use all its land, both on the east and west sides of SR-36, for construction of the North Town Shopping Center as an integrated economic unit. (R. 22-23 ¶7)

8. On March 30, 2004, UDOT served Wintergreen with summons and a complaint for condemnation in Case Number 040300459 ("Case 459 direct condemnation"), in which UDOT sought to condemn fee title to a strip of land of .275 acres belonging to Wintergreen located on the east side of SR-36 along 2400 North Street. (R. 22 ¶8)

9. On April 15, 2004, UDOT served Wintergreen with summons and a complaint for condemnation in Case Number 040300524 ("Case 524 direct condemnation"), in which UDOT sought to condemn several parts of a 16.666-acre parcel of land owned by Wintergreen located on the east side of SR-36, bordered by 2000 North on the south, 400 East on the east, and 2200 North on the north. The Case 524 direct condemnation sought to condemn fee title to two parcels of the land together comprising 2.183 acres, one perpetual easement of .111 acres, and three temporary easements amounting to .022 acres. (R. 22 ¶9)

10. Also on April 15, 2004, UDOT served Wintergreen with summons and a complaint for condemnation in Case Number 040300525 ("Case 525 direct condemnation"),

in which UDOT sought to condemn fee title to a strip of land of 2.147 acres belonging to Wintergreen located on the west side of SR-36 along the boundaries of four adjacent parcels of land owned by Wintergreen which collectively amounted to 104.175 acres. (R. 21-22 ¶10)

11. On July 1, 2004, the trial court entered an Order of Immediate Occupancy in each of the Case 459, Case 524 and Case 525 direct condemnation lawsuits. (R. 21 ¶11)

12. As a proximate result of the UDOT SR-36 Project, Wintergreen's land now consists of one 14.483-acre parcel on the east side of SR-36 burdened by a perpetual easement and three temporary easements, and four adjacent parcels along the west side of SR-36 consisting of 102.028 acres (116.511 acres hereinafter collectively referred to as "Wintergreen's remaining land"). (R. 21 ¶12)

13. Wintergreen's remaining land has been reduced in total size to 116.511 acres, subject to a perpetual easement and three temporary easements. (R. 21 ¶13)

14. UDOT also took the *physical* action of permanently blocking off from all traffic a formerly open turnoff from SR-36 onto 2000 North Street, which borders the southern boundary of Wintergreen's remaining land located on the east side of SR-36. (R. 21 ¶14)

15. UDOT further took the *physical* action of rendering 2200 North into a right-in, right-out-only street from SR-36, even though 2200 North is designated on the Tooele Master Transportation Plan as an ordinary street connecting Wintergreen's land on each side of SR-36. (R. 21 ¶15)

16. UDOT additionally took the *physical* action of closing off 2200 North westbound from SR-36 toward the Overlake Subdivision located immediately west of Wintergreen's

remaining land, even though 2200 North is designated on the Tooele Master Transportation Plan as an ordinary street traversing Wintergreen's land toward the Overlake Subdivision. (R. 20 ¶17)

17. As a proximate result of UDOT's condemnation of part of Wintergreen's land; UDOT's *physically* permanently blocking off from all traffic a formerly open turnoff from SR-36 onto 2000 North Street; UDOT's *physically* rendering of 2200 North Street into a right-in, right-out-only street from SR-36; and UDOT's *physically* closing off of 2200 North westbound from SR-36 toward the Overlake Subdivision, all the parcels of Wintergreen's remaining land have been isolated from each other, Wintergreen has been prevented from developing its land into the North Town Shopping Center as an integrated economic unit, and Wintergreen's remaining land has been substantially reduced in value. (R. 20 ¶18)

18. In the three direct condemnation lawsuits, UDOT offered Wintergreen no statutory severance damages and nothing for the resulting harm to Wintergreen's land as a whole integrated economic unit. (R. 20 ¶20; R. 154)

19. On March 18, 2005, Wintergreen therefore filed an "Inverse Condemnation" lawsuit, seeking relief under the Just Compensation Clauses of the Utah and Federal Constitutions, in order (1) to expand the inquiry to properly focus on the harm to Wintergreen's land as a whole integrated economic unit resulting from UDOT's physical and condemnation conduct; and (2) to assert state and federal constitutional claims in light of that broader focus. (R. 1--24)

20. On March 6, 2006, the trial court entered final judgment granting UDOT's motion

to dismiss Wintergreen's "Inverse Condemnation" lawsuit in its entirety for failure to state a claim, on the sole ground that UDOT's three *statutory* direct condemnation lawsuits precluded the filing of Wintergreen's inverse condemnation lawsuit asserting claims under the *constitutions* of the State of Utah and the United States. (R. 169-77 at 172)

21. On March 31, 2006, Wintergreen filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court. (R. 183)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Wintergreen's complaint alleged inverse condemnation claims under the Utah and Federal Constitutions. The trial court erroneously dismissed Wintergreen's complaint on the ground that such claims are precluded by statutory direct condemnation proceedings brought by UDOT.

Wintergreen contends its complaint stated claims for relief under this court's existing interpretations of Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution. However, Wintergreen also suggests that such jurisprudence should be revised to more closely follow the Framers' intent. Wintergreen's complaint also states claims for relief under such revised jurisprudence.

ARGUMENT

I. Wintergreen's Complaint Properly Alleges Both State and Federal Constitutional Inverse Condemnation Claims Sufficient to Overcome UDOT's Motion to Dismiss

A. Standard of Judicial Review on a Motion to Dismiss Favors Wintergreen

The purpose of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss "is to challenge the formal sufficiency of the claim for relief, not to establish the facts or resolve the merits of a case." Whipple v. American Fork Irrigation Co., 910 P.2d 1218, 1220 (Utah 1996). Thus, Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a) requires only that a complaint contain a "short and plain statement ... showing that the pleader is entitled to relief" and "a demand for judgment for the relief".

All reasonable inferences must be drawn in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Anderson v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 841 P.2d 742, 744 (Utah Ct.App.1992). "A dismissal is a severe measure and should be granted by the trial court only if it is clear that a party is not entitled to relief under any state of facts which could be proved in support of its claim." Colman v. Utah State Land Bd., 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990).

B. Wintergreen's Complaint Properly Alleges State and Federal Constitutional Claims

1. Wintergreen's Complaint Properly Alleges *State* Constitutional Claims

a. Nature and Elements of State Inverse Condemnation Claims

The Just Compensation Clause of the Utah Constitution provides: "Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation." UTAH CONST. art. I, Sec. 22. That Clause protects "private property" from governmental "taking" or "damaging" for "public use" without payment of just compensation. Farmers New World Life Insurance

Co. v. Bountiful City, 803 P.2d 1241, 1243-44 (Utah 1990); see generally 3 Sands, Libonati & Martinez, LOCAL GOVERNMENT LAW, §§ 16.53.10--16.53.50; Martinez & Libonati, STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT LAW, A Transactional Approach 312-39 (2000).

Three different scenarios give rise to Just Compensation claims under Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution: (1) "Direct condemnation" occurs, for example, when a private home that lies in the path of a proposed freeway is purchased "directly" by UDOT. In that scenario, there is no question that (A) "private property" (the home), (B) a "taking" (expropriation of the home), and (C) a "public use" (freeway), are all present. UDOT unquestionably is required to initiate a direct condemnation proceeding and pay fair market value to the owner in that setting. UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 78-34-1--78-34-20.

(2) "Inverse condemnation" occurs when private property is taken or damaged for public use and either (A) the government has not initiated direct condemnation proceedings at all, or (B) as in this case, the property owner asserts that the direct condemnation proceedings which the government *has* brought will not provide the constitutionally required "just compensation" to the owner. Farmers New World Life Insurance Co. v. Bountiful City, 803 P.2d 1241, 1243-44 (Utah 1990); see also 3 Sands, Libonati & Martinez, LOCAL GOVERNMENT LAW, § 21:14 (de facto takings); § 21:16 (precondemnation blight).

Inverse condemnation law in Utah has followed a particularly tortuous path. This court initially held that the state Just Compensation Clause was self-executing, and did not require legislative grace to implement it. Webber v. Salt Lake City, 40 Utah 221, 224, 120 P. 503, 504 (1911). The court later reversed itself, however, holding instead that no claim

could be brought directly under the state constitution absent implementing legislation. Fairclough v. Salt Lake County, 10 Utah 2d 417, 354 P.2d 105 (1960). Then in 1990, the court reversed itself again, joining the vast majority of state courts in holding that such a claim can be brought. Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 630-34 (Utah 1990).

Constant resort to first principles therefore is indispensable to keeping one's bearings in the field. The foundational principle of inverse condemnation law is that "The tendency under our system is too often to sacrifice the individual to the community." Stockdale v. Rio Grande Western Ry. Co., 28 Utah 201, 203, 77 P. 849, 852 (1904). Like the analogous provision in the federal constitution's Fifth Amendment, the Utah Just Compensation Clause "was designed to bar Government from forcing some people alone to bear public burdens which, in all fairness and justice, should be borne by the public as a whole." U.S. CONST. AMEND. V; Armstrong v. United States, 364 U.S. 40, 49 (1960).

In determining whether Wintergreen's complaint properly alleges inverse condemnation claims under the Utah constitution, therefore, both principles of civil procedure as well as the substantive policies underlying inverse condemnation theory counsel that Wintergreen's complaint should be upheld against UDOT's motion to dismiss.

b. Wintergreen Properly Alleged Each Element of State Inverse Condemnation Claims

Wintergreen properly alleged two "taking" claims (Claims 4 and 5) and a "damaging" claim (Claim 6) under Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution as presently construed.

(1) "Private Property"

Wintergreen alleged that it owns "private property" in the form of fee title ownership

to approximately 121.116 acres of land in Tooele. (R. 23 ¶5); Farmers New World Life Ins. Co. v. Bountiful City, 803 P.2d 1241, 1244 (Utah 1990)("'property' includes but is not limited to land"); Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 625 (Utah 1990)("some protectible interest"; lease).

(2) "Public Use"

UDOT's reconstruction of SR-36 was for a "public use," because it was undertaken to "promote the public interest, and ... tends to develop the great natural resources of the [state]." (R. 17 ¶41; R. 16 ¶45; R. 15 ¶52); Nash v. Clark, 27 Utah 158, 75 P. 371, 373 (1904)(irrigation ditches); see also Highland Boy Gold Min. Co. v. Strickley, 28 Utah 215, 78 P. 296 (1904)(roads and tramways for mining industry).

(3) "Taking"

A "*taking*" under Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution as presently construed is "any substantial interference with private property which destroys or materially lessens its value, or by which the owner's right to its use and enjoyment is in any substantial degree abridged or destroyed." Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d at 626 (citations omitted). Wintergreen alleged "UDOT's conduct substantially interfered with and destroyed or materially lessened the value of [Wintergreen's] remaining lands." (R. 17 (Claim 4, ¶¶38-41) at ¶ 39). Wintergreen also alleged "UDOT's conduct in substantial degree abridged or destroyed [Wintergreen's] right to use and enjoyment of [Wintergreen's] remaining lands." (R. 16-17 (Claim 5, ¶¶42-45) at ¶ 43).

(4) "Damaging"

A "*damaging*" under Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution as presently construed requires "some physical disturbance of a right, either public or private, which the owner enjoys in connection with his property and which gives it additional value, and which causes him to sustain a special damage with respect to his property in excess of that sustained by the public generally... with a perceptible effect on the present market value." Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d at 626 (turbulence from state pumping water from Great Salt Lake destroying underwater brine canals). Such interference must be "physical and permanent, continuous, or recurring." Farmers New World Life Ins. Co. v. Bountiful City, 803 P.2d at 1244 (diminution of value and cost of repairs to mall from city's temporary diversion of city creek during construction of culvert for creek).

Wintergreen properly alleged such elements of a "damaging" claim as follows:

¶ 47. UDOT through the physical conduct of failure to open 2200 North westbound from SR-36, rendering of 2200 North as a right-in, right-out street in relation to SR-36, and blocking of 2000 North from traffic in relation to SR-36, destroyed Plaintiff's right to develop its remaining lands into the North Town Shopping Center as an integrated economic unit, which gave Plaintiff's remaining lands additional value.

¶ 48. UDOT's conduct caused Plaintiff special damage in excess of that sustained by the public generally because Plaintiff's remaining East Side land was rendered isolated from Plaintiff's remaining West Side land, as well as from the areas surrounding Plaintiff's remaining East Side land, because Plaintiff no longer has access to or from SR-36 on 2000 North, and has no access to southbound SR-36 from 2200 North, but instead must travel a circuitous route eastward on 2000 North or 2200 North, then north on 400 East, then finally south on SR-36.

¶ 49. Such damage sustained by Plaintiff is a definite physical injury cognizable to the senses because Plaintiff's remaining lands are isolated from each other as well as from SR-36 to a substantial degree.

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