2006

Wintergreen Group v. Utah DOT : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Wintergreen seeks to raise inverse condemnation claims in this action. All of its claims relate to the three ongoing condemnation proceedings (since consolidated) concerning certain tracts of land that it owns. These claims must be raised in the condemnation proceeding and not, as here, in a separate action. Utah law requires that all claims concerning the same transaction or occurrence be heard in a single action. Strong public policy supports this rule. To permit damages to be decided for the same conduct by two or more courts or juries would all too often lead to the entry of duplicative awards. It also would raise the danger of inconsistent verdicts and decisions.

The State of Utah and its agencies, such as UDOT, are not “persons” that can be sued under § 1983. Individual state officers can be sued for injunctive and prospective declaratory relief pursuant to Ex Parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908). But the plaintiff has

sued only UDOT. Ex Parte Young does not apply to state agencies, but only to individual employees of the state. Even if UDOT could be sued under § 1983, such a claim would have to be raised either in the condemnation action or in a separate action filed after the completion of the condemnation proceedings.

ARGUMENT

I. WINTERGREEN’S CLAIMS SHOULD HAVE BEEN BROUGHT AS COMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIMS IN THE CONDEMNATION PROCEEDING

Rule 13(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, concerning compulsory counterclaims, provides that:

A pleading shall state as a counterclaim any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party, if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject-matter of the opposing party's claim and does not require for its adjudication the presence of third parties of whom the court cannot acquire jurisdiction. . . .¹

All of the plaintiff’s claims arise out of the ongoing condemnation proceeding. They are all part of a single transaction or occurrence. The gist of Wintergreen’s action is its claim that its constitutional rights will be violated by the condemnation action. The trial court correctly dismissed this action as being in violation of this rule. “The purpose of rule 13(a) is to ensure that all relevant claims arising out of a given transaction are litigated in the same action.” Raile Family Trust v. Promax Dev. Co., 2001 UT 40, ¶12.

¹ The omitted portions of the rule contain two exceptions that are not relevant to this action.

24 P.3d 980 (contract, slander of title and tort claims should have been raised as compulsory counterclaims in mechanics' lien action). Where a claim should have been presented as a compulsory counterclaim and wasn't, it is forever barred. Todaro v. Gardner, 285 P.2d 839, 842 (Utah 1955).

Campbell also asks that we remand this case to enable him to establish his damages flowing from Kimball's alleged breach of the subject contract. We decline to do so for two reasons. First, Campbell's counterclaim was compulsory under Rule 13(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure because it arose out of the transaction that is the subject matter of plaintiff's claim. Therefore, his failure to file a counterclaim resulted in a waiver.

Kimball v. Campbell, 699 P.2d 714, 716 (Utah 1985) (breach of contract claim waived because it was not raised as a compulsory counterclaim to plaintiff's suit concerning a breach of the same contract).

The same result was reached in Yanaka v. Iomed, Inc., 2005 UT App 239, 116 P.3d 962. Iomed brought an action against a former employee, Yanaka. In that action Iomed alleged that Yanaka had violated two agreements he had entered into while employed with the company. Although he filed some counterclaims in Iomed's action, Yanaka filed his claims of discriminatory employment practices as a separate action. The court of appeals held that the discrimination claims should have been filed as counterclaims to Iomed's lawsuit because they dealt with the same transaction or occurrence: Yanaka's employment with Iomed and the agreements between the parties. Yanaka, 2005 UT App 239 at ¶¶6-8.

Wintergreen's claims arise out of the condemnation process. As such they arise out of the same transaction or occurrence as does the consolidated condemnation proceeding and should have been raised in that action. The trial court correctly dismissed these claims on this basis and its decision should be affirmed on appeal.

Notably, the trial court's decision in this matter does not totally preclude Wintergreen from seeking to raise its claims in the condemnation proceeding. Wintergreen can still seek to raise its claims as omitted counterclaims in the condemnation proceeding. See Utah R. Civ. P. 13(e) (leave of court may be sought to permit an amendment to add a counterclaim that was omitted).

II. WINTERGREEN'S FEDERAL CLAIMS CANNOT BE BROUGHT AGAINST UDOT UNDER § 1983

As a matter of federal law, the State of Utah and its agencies are entitled to absolute sovereign immunity. The Eleventh Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits federal courts from exercising jurisdiction over suits by private parties against a state. Seminole Tribe of Fla. v. Florida, 517 U.S. 44, 54-55 (1995). This Eleventh Amendment jurisdictional bar applies regardless of the nature of the relief sought. Puerto Rico Aqueduct and Sewer Auth. v. Metcalf & Eddy, Inc., 506 U.S. 139, 146 (1993); Pennhurst State Sch. and Hosp. v. Halderman, 465 U.S. 89, 100-01 (1984).

Despite the narrowness of its terms, since Hans we have understood the Eleventh Amendment to stand not so much for what it says, but for the presupposition of our constitutional structure which it confirms: that the States entered the federal system with their sovereignty intact; that the judicial authority in Article III is limited by this sovereignty; and that a

State will therefore not be subject to suit in federal court unless it has consented to suit, either expressly or in the “plan of the convention.”

Blatchford v. Native Village of Noatak, 501 U.S. 775, 779 (1991).

Because of the State of Utah's sovereign immunity, no federal claim can be brought against the state unless its immunity has been waived. Sovereign immunity can be waived by Congress in certain circumstances, and by the states themselves.

Congress can waive the states' Eleventh Amendment immunity “by making its intention unmistakably clear in the language of the statute.” Dellmuth v. Muth, 491 U.S. 223, 227-28 (1989). But the only time that Congress can waive Eleventh Amendment immunity is when it is acting pursuant to a valid exercise of power. Green v. Mansour, 474 U.S. 64, 68 (1985). The only congressional power that has been held, to date, to validly authorize Congress to waive the state's Eleventh Amendment immunity is Section 5 of the Fourteenth Amendment. Seminole Tribe of Fla., 517 U.S. at 59-63 (1996); Fitzpatrick v. Bitzer, 427 U.S. 445, 456 (1976). If Congress does not have the authority to waive the immunity of the states in federal court, it is without the power to waive their immunity in state courts as well. Alden v. Maine, 527 U.S. 706, 712 (1999). Of most importance to the present action is the fact that 42 U.S.C. § 1983 does not contain a waiver of the immunity of the states. Quern v. Jordan, 440 U.S. 332, 342 (1979).

Nor can a state agency, such as UDOT, be sued under § 1983. In Will v. Michigan Department of State Police, 491 U.S. 58, 71 (1989), the Supreme Court expressly held that “neither a State nor its officials acting in their official capacities are ‘persons’ under

§ 1983." This Court, following Will, has also concluded that § 1983 claims cannot be brought against state agencies because they are not "persons" under the statute. Ambus v. Utah State Bd. of Educ., 858 P.2d 1372, 1376-77 (Utah 1993). The Utah Court of Appeals has followed this Court and the United States Supreme Court in holding that Utah and its agencies cannot be sued under § 1983:

Finally, Seare contends that the trial court erred in concluding that the University and its agents were not "persons" who could be sued under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for civil rights violations. The United States Supreme Court in Will v. Michigan Department of State Police, 491 U.S. 58, 109 S.Ct. 2304, 105 L.Ed.2d 45 (1989), held that states cannot be sued in their own courts for civil rights violations under section 1983. In Will, the Court held that the state of Michigan and its police department could not be sued in a Michigan state court for civil rights violations. The Court stated that "[i]t is an 'established principle of jurisprudence' that the sovereign cannot be sued in its own courts without its consent. We cannot conclude that § 1983 was intended to disregard the well established immunity of a State from being sued without its consent." Further, the Court held that state officials acting in their official capacity are not "persons" who may be sued under section 1983.

In the instant case, Seare is suing the University of Utah School of Medicine and a number of its employees. Under Utah law, the University and its School of Medicine are state institutions. Additionally, the state has expressly declared that it maintains its immunity from civil rights claims. Thus, the trial court was correct in ruling that the University of Utah School of Medicine cannot be sued under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and that its employees acting in their official capacity, as is the case here, are not "persons" who can be sued under section 1983.

Seare v. Univ. of Utah, 882 P.2d 673, 679 (Utah App. 1994) (footnote and citations omitted). See also Windward Partners v. Anyoshi, 693 F.2d 928, 928-30 (9th Cir. 1982) (a takings claim could not be brought under § 1983 against the state of Hawaii because of

the Eleventh Amendment and plaintiff's suit against state officers for damages was really a prohibited suit against the state).

Because Congress has not waived the immunity of Utah for a § 1983 claim, no such cause of action can exist unless Utah has waived its own immunity. While the states can waive their Eleventh Amendment immunity, such waivers will not be inferred easily. The United States Supreme Court has said: "we will find waiver only where stated 'by the most express language or by such overwhelming implications from the text as [will] leave no room for any other reasonable construction.'" Florida Dep't of Health v. Florida, 450 U.S. 147, 150 (1981) (quoting Edelman v. Jordan, 415 U.S. 651, 673 (1974)). A state does not waive its Eleventh Amendment immunity by enacting a statute authorizing suits against the state in its own courts. *Id.* Utah, far from waiving its sovereign immunity, has expressly stated in the Governmental Immunity Act that its immunity is retained for injuries arising out of, connected with, or resulting from a violation of civil rights. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-301(5)(b) (West Supp. 2006).

The cases relied upon by Wintergreen in claiming it can sue the state and its agencies do not involve § 1983 claims against the states. Most of them deal with suits against state officials and not the state.² Others are appeals from state supreme courts on

² Lingle v. Chevron USA, Inc., 544 U.S. 528 (2005) (suit against governor and attorney general); Brown v. Legal Foundation of Wash., 538 U.S. 216 (2003) (suit against non-profit organization and officials); Keystone Bituminous Coal Ass'n v. De Benedictis, 480 U.S. 470 (1987) (suit against state officials); Webb's Fabulous Pharmacies, Inc. v. Beckwith, 449 U.S. 155 (1980) (suit against county and officials).

claims other than those asserted under § 1983.³ The remaining two decisions deal with actions against the United States⁴ and against the City of Chicago.⁵

Nor does Ex Parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908), help the plaintiff. Wintergreen erroneously claims it can sue UDOT under Ex Parte Young. Appellant's Opening Brief at 16-17. But Ex Parte Young involved a suit against a state official for prospective relief only. This exception permits suits against individual state officers in certain circumstances, but not against the states or their agencies. Idaho v. Coeur d'Alene Tribe of Idaho, 521 U.S. 261, 269 (1997) ("The Tribe's suit, accordingly, is barred by Idaho's Eleventh Amendment immunity unless it falls within the exception this Court has recognized for certain suits seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against state officers in their individual capacities.") (citation omitted). As this Court noted in Ambus, officials can be sued for injunctive relief because such claims are not treated as being against the state. Ambus, 858 P.2d at 1376. In Coeur d'Alene, the court found Idaho to be immune from suit. It then considered whether an Ex Parte Young action could be brought against individual state officers. Coeur d'Alene, 521 U.S. at 269-88.

The same result was reached in Verizon Maryland, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of Maryland, 535 U.S. 635 (2002). Petitioners had brought their action against a state

³ Palazzolo v. Rhode Island, 533 U.S. 606 (2001); Nollan v. Cal. Coastal Comm'n, 483 U.S. 825 (1987).

⁴ Jacobs v. United States, 290 U.S. 13 (1933).

⁵ Chicago, B. & Q. R.R. v. Chicago, 166 U.S. 226 (1897).

commission and its members. The Court decided it did not need to determine if the commission had waived its Eleventh Amendment immunity, because an Ex Parte Young action had been properly brought against the members of the commission and only prospective relief was sought. Verizon, 535 U.S. at 645. (“Whether the Commission waived its immunity is another question we need not decide, because - as the same parties also argue - even absent waiver, Verizon may proceed against the individual commissioners in their official capacities, pursuant to the doctrine of Ex parte Young.”).

In a final effort to support its federal claims, Wintergreen claims that it can litigate its federal takings claims in this separate action. Opening Brief of Appellant at 41. To support this claim, plaintiff relies on San Remo Hotel v. City and County of San Francisco, 545 U.S. 323, 125 S.Ct. 2491 (2005). Rather than create a right to file a separate action to litigate a federal takings claim, San Remo only continued the prior understanding that a federal claim could be raised in the same action brought by the state to condemn the private property.

The requirement that aggrieved property owners must seek "compensation through the procedures the State has provided for doing so." does not preclude state courts from hearing simultaneously a plaintiff's request for compensation under state law and the claim that, in the alternative, the denial of compensation would violate the Fifth Amendment of the Federal Constitution.